## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

No 21-0859

## Pottawattamie County No. LACV121204

REED DICKEY, MICHAEL DICKEY, and ANDREA DICKEY, Plaintiffs-Appellants,

VS.

JEREMY JOFF, JENNIE
EDMUNDSON MEMORIAL
HOSPITAL, METHODIST JENNIE
EDMUNDSON HOSPITAL, LOESS
HILLS BEHAVIORAL HEALTH, JEFF
RUTLEDGE, THE SCHOOL
DISTRICT OF LINCOLN a/k/a
LINCOLN PUBLIC SCHOOLS and
EMILY GORMAN,
Defendants-Appellees.

#### PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

Dominic F. Pechota AT0006175 TRIAL LAWYERS FOR JUSTICE,

P.C.

421 W. Water St., Third FloorDecorah, IA 52101 Phone: (563) 382-5071

Fax: (888) 801-3616

Email: dominic@tl4j.com

ATTORNEYS FOR

PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS

#### **

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN DISMISSING PLAINTIFFS'CLAIMS ON THE GROUNDS THAT THE IOWA SUPREME COURT ACTED UNCONSTITUTIONALLY IN TOLLING THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS THROUGH ITS SUPERVISORY ORDER?

**Federal Cases** 

#### **State Cases**

Godfrey v. State, 898 N.W.2d 844, 847 (Iowa 2017)

Hedlund v. State, 875 N.W.2d 720, 724 (Iowa 2016)

Iowa Civil Liberties Union v. Critelli, 244 N.W.2d 564, 569 (Iowa 1976) (en banc).

Varnum v. Brien, 763 N.W.2d 862, 877 (Iowa 2009)

Venard v. Winter, 524 N.W.2d 163, 164 (Iowa 1994)

Weizberg v. City of Des Moines, 923 N.W.2d. 200 (Iowa 2018)

#### **State Constitution**

Constitution of Iowa, Article V, Section 4

#### **State Rules**

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.904(3)

Iowa Rs. App. P. 6.1101(2)(a), (c-d)

#### **State Court Orders**

March 17, 2020 Order

April 2, 2020 Order

May 8, 2020 Order May 22, 2020 Order

#### **Other Authorities**

David Pitt, *Iowa Legislature suspends session for 30 days*, ASSOCIATED PRESS(Mar. 15, 2020),

https://apnews.com/article/14d4533d89c3c88009f6ca6f4148ae68

Stephen Gruber-Miller, *Iowa Legislature to extend suspension of session throughApril 30 as coronavirus spreads*, DES MOINES REGISTER (April 2, 2020),

https://www.desmoinesregister.com/story/news/politics/2020/04/02/iowa-legislature-extends-suspension-session-coronavirus-covid-19-kim-reynolds/5113954002/

US Law Network, Statute of Limitations Quick Guide (During Covid-19 Pandemic), US LAW NETWORK (December 2020), <a href="https://www.uslaw.org/files/Compendiums2020/COVID-10\_Statute%20of%20Limitations/2020\_USLAW\_NETWORK\_COVID\_19\_Statute\_of\_Limitations\_Quick\_Guide\_COMPILATION\_version.pdf">https://www.uslaw.org/files/Compendiums2020/COVID-10\_Statute%20of%20Limitations/2020\_USLAW\_NETWORK\_COVID\_19\_Statute\_of\_Limitations\_Quick\_Guide\_COMPILATION\_version.pdf</a>

Administrative Order 2020-PR-016, In the Supreme Court of the State of Kansas.

# 2. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN DISMISSING DEFENDANTSLINCOLN PUBLIC SCHOOLS AND JEFF RUTLEDGE FOR LACK OF PERSONAL JURISDICTION?

World-Wide Volkswagen Corp. v. Woodson, 444 U.S. 286, 297 (1980)

Ostrem v. Prideco Secure Loan Fund, LP, 841 N.W.2d 882 (Iowa 2014)

3. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN DISMISSING DEFENDANTSJENNIE EDMUNDSEN HOSPITAL AND EMILY GORMAN ON THE GROUNDS OF NONCOMPLIANCE WITH IOWA CODE § 147.140?

Shumate v. Drake University, 846 N.W.2d 503 (Iowa 2014)

Venard v. Winter, 524 N.W.2d 163, 164 (Iowa 1994)

#### ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal should be retained. This appeal involves a substantial issue of first impression, requiring enunciation of legal and constitutional issues (i.e., the proper scope of authority of the Iowa Supreme Court to make and modify rules in response to a global health emergency). This appeal presents an issue of first impression (regarding the authority of the Iowa Supreme Court to make such a Supervisory Order). This appeal also involves issues of broad public importance that will require ultimate determination by the Iowa Supreme Court, *See*, Iowa Rs.App. P. 6.1101(2)(a), (c-d).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is an appeal from the Iowa District Court for Pottawattamie

County in the matter of case number LACV121204, *Reed Dickey, et al. vs. JeremyHoff,* et al. The case involves claims for injuries by Plaintiffs Reed

Dickey, Michael Dickey, and Andrea Dickey arising out of (a wrestling match)

which tookplace in Council Bluffs, Iowa on December 7, 2018.

On December 6, 2019, Reed filed suit against Defendants Jennie Edmundson and Hoff for claims arising out the subject incident in the Iowa DistrictCourt for Pottawattamie County, case number LACV120033.

On May 22, 2020, in response to the global Covid-19 Pandemic, the Iowa Supreme Court issued an Omnibus Order, Paragraph 45 of which tolled the

statutes of limitations, statutes of repose, or similar deadlines from by 76 days for any deadline which would expire between March 17, 2020 and December 31, 2020. OnNovember 20, 2020, Reed filed a Dismissal Without Prejudice of his initial claim (LACV120033).

On December 11, 2020, Plaintiffs filed a second petition in the Iowa DistrictCourt for Pottawattamie County, case number LACV121204, making similar claims to those in the prior suit. Pursuant to the Iowa Supreme Court's SupervisoryOrders tolling the statutes of limitations in Iowa, this suit was timely filed.

On January 18, 2021, Defendant Jennie Edmundson filed a Motion for Additional Time to Move or Plead. On January 20, 2021, this Motion was granted. On January 21, 2021, Defendants the School District of Lincoln and Jeff Rutledge filed a Motion for Additional Time to Move or Plead. On January 21, 2021, this Motion was granted. On January 22, 2021, Defendant Jeremy Hoff filed a Motion for Additional Time to Move or Plead. On January 22, 2021, this Motion was granted. On February 15, 2021, Defendants Jennie Edmundson and Emily Gormanfiled a pre-Answer Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs' Claims on, among other grounds, the grounds that a) Plaintiff filed to timely file a Certificate of Merit affidavit in theprevious lawsuit (LACV120033), and that Plaintiff's claims were barred because the Statute of Limitations on these claims

would have run on December 7, 2020 absent the Iowa Supreme Court's Supervisory Orders, and these Supervisory Orders were unconstitutional, therefore barring Plaintiffs' claims. On February 15,2021, Defendants the School District of Lincoln and Jeff Rutledge filed a pre- Answer Motion to Dismiss, or, in the Alternative, to Stay Proceedings against Plaintiffs' claims. In support of this Motion, Defendants the School District of Lincoln and Jeff Rutledge on, among other grounds, the grounds that Plaintiffs' claims were barred by the Statute of Limitations (because the Iowa Supreme Court's Supervisory Orders were unconstitutional), and the grounds that Iowa did not have personal jurisdiction over out-of-state (Nebraska) Defendants Lincoln Public Schools and Jeff Rutledge.

On February 23, 2021, Plaintiffs filed an Unresisted Motion for Enlargement of Time to File Responsive Pleadings to Defendants' Motions to Dismiss, seeking an additional fourteen days in which to file Resistances and supporting materials inresponses to Defendants' Motions to Dismiss. On February 23, 2021, this Motion was granted.

On March 3, 2021, Defendant Jeremy Hoff filed a Motion to Dismiss on, among other grounds, the grounds that 1) Plaintiff filed to timely file and serveDefendant Hoff with a Certificate of Merit affidavit pursuant to Iowa Code 147.140(1)(a); that Plaintiffs' claims were barred by claim preclusion

due to Plaintiff's dismissal without prejudice of the first lawsuit; and that Plaintiffs' claims were barred because the statute of limitations ran on Plaintiffs' claims on December 7, 2020 and the Iowa Supreme Court's Supervisory Order Tolling the Statute of Limitations was unconstitutional. On March 5, 2021, Defendant Emily Gorman filed a pre-Answer Motion to Dismiss alleging that's Plaintiff's dismissal of the first suit should be treated as having been a dismissal with prejudice because Plaintiff had not timely filed a Certificate of Merit Affidavit in the first suit; and that the Statute of Limitations had run on Plaintiffs' claims because the Iowa Supreme Court's May 22, 2020 Order was unconstitutional.

On March 10, 2021, Plaintiffs timely Resisted the Motions to Dismiss of Defendants Jennie Edmundson and Emily Gorman. On March 10, 2021, Plaintiffstimely Resisted the Motion to Dismiss of Defendant Jeremy Hoff. On March 10, 2021, Plaintiffs timely Resisted the Motions to Dismiss of Defendants the School District of Lincoln and Jeff Rutledge.

On March 31, 2021, a hearing was held on Defendants' various Motions to Dismiss. This hearing was not transcribed. On May 14, 2021, the District Court issued an Order providing as follows: (1) Plaintiffs' claims against Defendants Lincoln Public Schools and Coach Rutledge were dismissed because Iowa lacked personal jurisdiction over Plaintiffs' claims against these two out-

of-state Defendants; (2) Plaintiffs' claims against Defendants Jennie Edmundson and Emily Gorman were dismissed because Plaintiff had not complied with Iowa Code § 147.140, and therefore they were prohibited from voluntarily dismissing and thenre-filing their claims; and, (3) that Plaintiffs' claims against all Defendants were dismissed because the statute of limitations on Plaintiffs' claims had run on December 7, 2020, and the Iowa Supreme Court's supervisory orders tolling statutes of limitations in the state of Iowa by 76 days were unconstitutional under the Iowa constitution. On May 21, 2021, Plaintiffs timely filed a Motion for the Court to Reconsider, Enlarge, or Amend its May 14, 2021 Order dismissing Plaintiffs' claims. On May 28, 2021, Defendants the School District of Lincoln and Jeff Rutledge filed a Resistance to Plaintiffs' Motion to Reconsider, Enlarge, or Amend. On June 2, 2021 the District Court filed an Order denying Plaintiffs' Motion to Reconsider, Enlarge, or Amend.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

As this Appeal was made from a District Court Order granting Pre-AnswerMotions to Dismiss, there has been a limited record generated in this matter and the Statement of Facts which follow largely derive from Plaintiff's Petition.

As of December 7, 2018, Plaintiff Reed Dickey was a minor residing in

Lancaster County, Nebraska. (Petition, App. p. 5). Plaintiffs Andrea Dickey and Michael Dickey are the natural and legal parents of Plaintiff Reed Dickey. (Petition, App. pp. 5-6). As of December 7, 2018, they were residents of Lancaster County, Nebraska. (Petition, App. pp. 5-6).

As of December 7, 2018, Defendant Jeremy Hoff was an individual believed to be a resident of Iowa. (Petition, App. p. 6). Defendant Hoff was believed to be holding himself out to be licensed and/or certified to referee high school wrestling matches in Iowa. (Petition, App. p. 6). As of December 7, 2018, Defendant Emily Gorman was an individual believed to be a resident of Iowa. (Petition, App. p. 6). Defendant Gorman was believed to be licensed as an athletic trainer in Iowa. (Petition, App. p. 6).

As of December 7, 2018, Defendant Jeff Rutledge was an adult resident of Nebraska who was employed by Defendant Lincoln Public Schools in relevant partas a paid wrestling coach at Lincoln East High School, where he was Plaintiff ReedDickey's wrestling coach. (Petition, App. p. 6).

On December 7, 2018, Defendant The School District of Lincoln (also known as Lincoln Public Schools) was the public school district for the Lincoln, Nebraska area.

On December 7, 2018, Plaintiff Reed Dickey participated in the Council Bluffs Wrestling Classic (hereinafter, "the tournament"), in Council Bluffs,

Pottawattamie County, Iowa. (Petition, App. p. 7). This was a wrestling tournament hosted by Lewis Central High School, Abraham Lincoln High School, St. Albert Catholic High School, and Thomas Jefferson High School. (Petition, App. p. 7). As of December 7, 2018, Reed was enrolled as a student at Lincoln East High School in Lincoln, Nebraska, and was a member of the Lincoln East High School varsity wrestling team. (Petition, App. p. 8). Reed went to the tournament for the purpose of wrestling in the tournament on behalf of Lincoln East High School. (Petition, App. p. 8). Prior to the start of the tournament, Lincoln Public Schools and Jeff Rutledge knew that the tournament would be held in Iowa. (Petition, App. p. 8). In the tournament, Reed wrestling against a Lewis Central High School wrestler in a match on behalf of Lincoln East High School. (Petition, App. p. 8). On December 7, 2018, Rutledge was a co-head coach of the Lincoln East High School varsity wrestling team, was present and coached Reed in the match. (Petition, App. p. 9). As a co-head coach of the Lincoln East High School varsity wrestling team, Rutledge was LPS's agent. (Petition, App. p. 9). Hoff was the match's referee. (Petition, App. p. 9). During the match against the Lewis Central wrestler, Reed sustained multiple blows to the head resulting in temporary and permanent brain injuries. (Petition, App. p. 9). With approximately 49 seconds remaining in the first period of the match (scheduled to last 3 periods), Reed's head collided with the

other wrestler's head. Reed was on his knees when the heads collided, and immediately of the heads collided Reed stopped wrestling, rolled over, and sat on the mat and clutched his head with his back to the other wrestler. (Petition, App. p. 9). If the referee has not stopped the match, unless the wrestler sustained an injury, it is not typical for awrestler to stop competing, turn his back on his opponent and sit on the mat clutching his head. Doing so is a sign of potential injury. (Petition, App. p. 9). When Reed stopped wrestling and instead turned his back on the other wrestler, sat on the mat, and clutched his head, Reed was exhibiting signs and/or symptoms, and/or behaviors consistent with a concussion or brain injury. (Petition, App. p. 9). Recognizing something was wrong with Reed, Rutledge left the sideline, which was slightly more than one-half of the width of the mat away from where Reed was sitting, and tried to get Hoff to stop the match. (Petition, App. p. 9).

Notwithstanding the facts that Reed was sitting on the mat holding his head with his back to the other wrestler, that Rutledge was trying to get Hoff to stop thematch, and that Hoff was looking directly at Reed and the Lewis Central wrestler and therefore aware that Reed has stopped wrestling and was instead sitting on the mat holding his head, Hoff allowed the match to continue at which time the Lewis Central wrestler pounced on Reed from behind and drove Reed down to the mat. (Petition, App. pp. 9-10). At that point Hoff raised his right

hand while holding two fingers in the air, signaling to the scorers' table that the Lewis Central wrestler should be awarded 2 points for a takedown of Reed who had been sitting on the mat holding his head. (Petition, App. p. 10). Hoff then temporarily stopped the match for an injury time outwhile Reed was writhing on the mat holding his head. (Petition, App. p. 10). At that point Reed continued exhibiting signs and/or symptoms, and/or behaviors consistent with a concussion or brain injury, including, without limitation: being observed to be clutching his head and writhing on the ground. (Petition, App. p. 10).

Upon information and belief, Reed sustained a concussion or other type of brain injury due to his head colliding with the other wrestler's head.

(Petition, App. p. 10). Rutledge arrived at the spot on the mat where Reed was lying, clutching his head, and writhing on the mat. (Petition, App. p. 10). For approximately 10 seconds Hoff and Rutledge conversed, with Hoff at sometimes instructing Rutledge to return to the sideline. (Petition, App. p. 10). After approximately 10 seconds, Hoff left the spot where Reed was on the mat, and walked over towards the scorers' table, leaving Rutledge with Reed. (Petition, App. p. 10). As Hoff was walking away, Rutledge knelt down on the mat nextto Reed and talked with him. (Petition, App. p. 10). Gorman was within a few yards of Reed and was watching the match when the wrestler's heads collided. She continued watching Reed while he lied on the ground.

(Petition, App. p. 10). Approximately 15 seconds after Hoff stopped the match, Gorman walked over to Reed and while Reed was lying on his back, still clutching his head, and writhing on the mat, Gorman knelt down beside him. (Petition, App. p. 10).

Gorman briefly examined Reed, but did not conduct an exam which would be consistent with an exam done for purposes of assessing potential brain injury and/or concussions. (Petition, App. p. 11). Approximately 12 seconds after Gorman knelt down next to Reed, Hoff returned to the spot on the mat where Reed was being assessed by Gorman, with Rutledge still present. Hoff did not engage in discussionwith Gorman at this point. (Petition, App. p. 11). Approximately 16 seconds after Hoff got back to the spot on the mat where Reed was being assessed, Hoff escorted and accompanied Rutledge away from that area and over to an area near the scorer's table. (Petition, App. p. 11). For approximately another 20 seconds after Hoff and Rutledge left the area, Gorman continued speaking with Reed. (Petition, App. p. 11). Gorman and Reed finished speaking, and Gorman walked back to the spot where she was standing when the match was stopped. Reed walked to the center of the mat. (Petition, App. p. 11). Hoff and Rutledge continued speaking for approximately 35 seconds after Gorman and Reed stopped their discussion. (Petition, App. p. 11). Rutledge then returned to the sideline. (Petition, App. p. 11). Hoff then returned to the center

of the mat, where both Reed and the Lewis Central wrestler were standing, and instructed the Reed and the Lewis Central wrestler to resume the match.

(Petition, App. p. 11). After Hoff first walked away from the spot where Gorman was speaking with Reed, Hoff and Gorman did not speak with each other about Reed's condition before the match resumed. (Petition, App. p. 11). Gorman did not speak to Rutledge after Hoff escorted Rutledge away from the areaand before the match resumed. (Petition, App. p. 12). After the match resumed and as it continued, Reed exhibited worsening and/or more signs, symptoms, and or behaviors consistent with a concussion or brain injury, including: Appearing dazed; Having a vacant expression; Appearing uncoordinated; Uncharacteristicallylethargic behavior; and Other uncharacteristic behavior. (Petition, App. p. 12).

Moreover, as the match continued, Reed sustained additional blows to the head, exacerbating any injuries he sustained prior to the injury timeout. (Petition, App. p. 12). As the match's referee, Hoff was considered at "contest official" as the term is used in Iowa Code § 280.13C. (Petition, App. p. 12). He received compensation for his services as a referee. (Petition, App. p. 12). Notwithstanding the fact that Gorman allowed Reed to continue wresting after the injury time-out, with her knowledge that Reedhad exhibited signs, symptoms, and/or behaviors consistent with a concussion or brain injury, she

had an ongoing obligation to observe Reed and stop the match upon further observation of Reed's exhibiting signs and/or symptoms, and/or behaviors consistent with a concussion or brain injury. (Petition, App. p. 12). Prior to this wrestling match, Reed had not sustained any concussion or other brain injury. (Petition, App. p. 12).

Iowa Code § 280.13C requires that if a student's coach, contest official, or licensed health care provider or an emergency medical care provider observes a student who is participating in an extracurricular interscholastic activity exhibitingsigns, symptoms, or behaviors consistent with a concussion or brain injury in an extracurricular interscholastic activity, the student shall be immediately removed from participation. (Petition, App. pp. 12-13). As a result of the failure of Hoff, Gorman, and/or Rutledge to stop the match, Reed was permitted to continue wrestling, sustaining injuries above and beyond those which he sustained due to the original blow to thehead. (Petition, App. p. 13).

#### **ANALYSIS**

1. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING PLAINTIFFS' CLAIMS AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS ON THE GROUNDS THAT THEIOWA SUPREME COURT ACTED UNCONSTITUTIONALLY IN TOLLING THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS THROUGH ITS SUPERVISORY ORDERS

#### A. Preservation of Error

Error is preserved in that Plaintiffs timely resisted Defendants' Pre-AnswerMotions to Dismiss, and timely moved under Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.904(3) for the Court to reconsider, enlarge, or amend its May 14, 2021 ruling dismissing Plaintiffs' claims.

#### B. Scope and Standard of Review

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