IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
NO. 21-0859

REED DICKEY, MICHAEL DICKEY, and ANDREA DICKEY,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

JEREMY HOFF, JENNIE EDMUNDSON MEMORIAL HOSPITAL,
METHODIST JENNIE EDMUNDSON HOSPITAL and LOESS HILLS
BEHAVIORAL HEALTH, JEFF RUTLEDGE, THE SCHOOL DISTRICT
OF LINCOLN, (a/k/a LINCOLN PUBLIC SCHOOLS), and EMILY
GORMAN,

Defendants-Appellees.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR
POTTAWATTAMIE COUNTY
THE HONORABLE MICHAEL D. HOOPER

**FINAL APPEAL BRIEF OF APPELLEES JENNIE EDMUNDSON
MEMORIAL HOSPITAL, METHODIST JENNIE EDMUNDSON
HOSPITAL LOESS HILLS BEHAVIORAL HEALTH,
AND EMILY GORMAN**

Attorneys for Appellees:

Robert A. Mooney, #AT001318

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

Action on Coronavirus (COVID-19) (Nov. 5, 2021 3:33 p.m.), nsl.org/research/health/state-action-on-coronavirus-covid-19.aspx. Further, Plaintiffs' suggestion would lead to a waste of resources to reaffirm existing state law when the Iowa General Assembly needed to focus on how to best address the issues facing the citizens of the State of Iowa due to the pandemic. Without any statute passed by the Iowa General Assembly and signed into law by Governor Reynolds changing the statute of limitations for civil actions, Iowa Code § 614.1 remains the law of the State of Iowa applicable to Plaintiffs' case.

b. The Iowa General Assembly has the Authority to Make Policy Decisions

The Iowa General Assembly has the exclusive authority to make policy decisions, such as changing statutes of limitations applicable in various civil actions. The people vested the legislative authority inherent in them to the general assembly, and then imposed certain restrictions upon the exercise of that authority. *Knorr v. Beardsley*, 240 Iowa 828, 38 N.W.2d 236 (Iowa 1949). It follows, then that the legislative power of the general assembly is supreme and bounded only by the limitations written in the constitution. *Id.* at 244. Thus, the “power to declare legislation unconstitutional is one which courts exercise with great caution, and only when such conclusion is unavoidable.” *Id.* at 839. The Iowa Supreme Court has specifically stated that it is not within

its province or power to question the wisdom and propriety of policy. *Id.* at 862. The Iowa Supreme Court has also stated that the judicial branch’s authority to regulate practice and procedure in its Court must give way when the legislative department has acted. *State v. Thompson*, 2021 WL 401071 (Iowa 2021).

In the instant case, the Iowa General Assembly made a policy decision not to change the statutes of limitations for civil actions in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. In fact, the Iowa General Assembly passed several pieces of legislation, both in 2020 and 2021, related to COVID-19 relief. Specifically, the Iowa General Assembly passed legislation providing protection from liability to businesses and individuals for COVID-19 exposure or infection and providing instructional time waivers for school districts and private schools due to COVID-19-related interruptions. National Council of State Legislatures, State Action on Coronavirus (COVID-19) (Nov. 5, 2021 3:33 p.m.), ncsl.org/research/health/state-action-on-coronavirus-covid-19.aspx. Not only that, the Iowa General Assembly continued to introduce and pass COVID-19 legislation during its 2021 session, including legislation allowing parents or guardians to select full-time in-person instruction, and prohibiting mandatory disclosure of a person’s vaccination status. National Council of State Legislatures, State Action on

Coronavirus (COVID-19) (Nov. 5, 2021 3:33 p.m.), nsl.org/research/health/state-action-on-coronavirus-covid-19.aspx. The General Assembly's silence speaks volumes about its policy decisions related to COVID-19. The General Assembly's silence related to statutes of limitations means it did not believe it was necessary to change the statutes of limitations in civil actions in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, and that Iowa Code § 614.1 should remain the law of the State of Iowa. This determination is exclusively within the General Assembly's ability to make policy decisions affecting Iowa law.

Plaintiffs further argue that the Iowa Supreme Court had to act because the Iowa General Assembly suspended its session in response to COVID-19. It is irrelevant that the Iowa General Assembly suspended its session in response to COVID-19. Plaintiffs provided no case law, statute, Constitutional or other authority that allows a co-equal branch of government to unilaterally elect to exercise the powers expressly provided in the Iowa Constitution to the legislative branch when the Iowa General Assembly is unable to act. In fact, the Iowa Constitution expressly states "...no person charged with the exercise of powers properly belonging to one of these departments **shall** exercise any function appertaining to either of the others." Iowa Const. art. III, § 1. It is Jennie Ed and Emily Gorman's position, as

described above and below, that the checks and balances and the rights and obligations provided in the Iowa and United States Constitutions become even **more** essential during times of uncertainty and crisis, such as a global pandemic. If a global health crisis is reason enough for the judicial branch to act as a legislative branch, then there is no telling what crisis or disaster may be concerning enough for a wayward executive to take the legislative and judicial power for himself or herself, thereby destroying our system of government.

Moreover, the Iowa General Assembly was not alone in suspending its activities. Twenty-seven other state legislatures suspended or modified their sessions to accommodate social distancing and to slow the spread of COVID-19, similar to actions taken by many industries to prevent the spread of COVID-19. Every state that suspended or modified their legislative activities at the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, including the State of Iowa, later resumed their sessions to complete their legislative work. Other states called special sessions to pass COVID-19-related legislation or to pass other legislation previously up for debate prior to the pandemic. A short suspension to prevent the spread of an infectious disease among the General Assembly, which would have stopped the session if enough Representatives and Senators became infected, made no impact on the General Assembly's ability to

complete its work and should not be considered as part of the Court's review of this case.

c. Iowa Code § 614.1 was Adopted by the Iowa General Assembly and has been Upheld as Constitutional Countless Times; No Authority Existed for the Iowa Supreme Court to Abrogate the Legislative Mandate and Rights of Repose Held in the Citizenry by Its Supervisory Orders

The Iowa Constitution divides the powers of government into three separate departments, legislative, executive and judicial, "and no person charged with the exercise of powers properly belonging to one of these departments shall exercise any function appertaining to either of the others."

Iowa Const. art. III, § 1. The Judicial power vested in the Iowa Supreme Court is found at Article 5, section 4: "The Supreme Court shall have appellate jurisdiction only in cases in chancery, and shall constitute a court for the correction of errors at law, under such restrictions as the general assembly may, by law, prescribe; and shall have power to issue all writs and process necessary to secure justice to parties, and shall exercise a supervisory and administrative control over all inferior judicial tribunals throughout the state."

Iowa Const. art. V, § 4. The Legislature is vested with authority to pass laws limiting or barring a remedy for tort claims brought after the expiration of certain periods and has done so with respect to claims for injuries to persons and for medical malpractice. *See*, Iowa Code § 614.1(2) and § 614.1(9).

Statutes of limitations have long been upheld as Constitutional by the Iowa Supreme Court in cases properly before the Supreme Court. *Miller v. Boone Cty. Hosp.*, 394 N.W.2d 776, 783 (Iowa 1986)(“We have long recognized that statutes of limitation have been enacted ‘to afford security against stale demands, after the true state of the transaction may from a variety of causes, be either forgotten, or rendered incapable of explanation.’ *Penley v. Waterhouse*, 3 Iowa 418, 441 (1856). ‘The public has a legitimate interest in limiting time for bringing suits.’ *Conner v. Fettekether*, 294 N.W.2d 61, 63 (Iowa 1980).”). The Judicial Branch is strictly limited in its review of legislative action and cannot act as a legislative body undoing the properly exercised powers of the legislature at its whim:

It is of course understood the legislature may enact any law desired provided it is not clearly prohibited by some provision of the Federal or State Constitution. And in *Green v. City of Mount Pleasant*, 256 Iowa 1184, 1196, 131 N.W.2d 5, this Court held: The judicial branch of the government has no power to determine whether legislative Acts are wise or unwise, nor has it the power to declare an Act void unless it is plainly and without doubt repugnant to some provision of the Constitution.”

Farrell v. State Bd. of Regents, 179 N.W.2d 533, 537 (Iowa 1970) *citing* *Graham v. Worthington*, 259 Iowa 845, 850 - 851, 146 N.W.2d 626 (1966).

“Perhaps no canon of statutory construction is more firmly established than the one prohibiting courts from meddling with the general assembly's exclusive power of determining what laws it should enact. Of the countless

cases to this effect we cite only a few of the more recent ones. *Diamond Auto Sales, Inc. v. Erbe*, 251 Iowa 1330, 1333, 105 N.W.2d 650, 651; *Spurbeck v. Statton*, 252 Iowa 279, 284, 106 N.W.2d 660, 663; *Green v. City of Mt. Pleasant*, 256 Iowa 1184, 1196, 131 N.W.2d 5, 13; and *Danner v. Hass*, 257 Iowa 654, 661, 134 N.W.2d 534, 539.” *Frost v. State*, 172 N.W.2d 575, 584 (Iowa 1969).

Paragraph 20 of the March 17, 2020 Order, paragraph 33 of the April 2, 2020 Order, paragraph 3 of the May 8, 2020 Order, and paragraph 45 of the May 22, 2020 Order, overstep the mere supervisory or administrative operations of the court system, and strip citizens of substantive rights of limitation guaranteed by statute. The Supreme Court – in acting as a legislative body seeking to toll all statutes of limitations – overstepped its Constitutional authority and the paragraphs listed above lack force and effect to toll the application of Iowa Code § 614.1 to bar Plaintiffs’ action and subject the entire case to dismissal with prejudice. It matters **not** how necessary or prudent the members this Court believe this extension was or is. The **only** question that matters is that the Court lacked the Constitutional Authority to undo what the General Assembly specifically addressed, and what the General Assembly chose not to address in response to COVID-19.

II. The Iowa Supreme Court’s Supervisory Orders, including the May 22, 2020 Order, are Unconstitutional.

a. The Iowa Supreme Court’s Supervisory Orders, including the March 17, 2020, April 2, 2020, May 8, 2020 and May 22, 2020 Supervisory Orders, were Issued when the Court had no Case or Controversy Before it.

G

The Iowa Supreme Court’s March 17, 2020, April 2, 2020, May 8, 2020 and May 22, 2020 Supervisory Orders (hereinafter “Supervisory Orders”) tolling the statutes of limitations for civil actions were issued when the Court had no case or controversy before it. The United States Constitution allows the judicial power to be used to decide cases and controversies arising under the Constitution, the laws of the United States, and treaties made under their authority. U.S. Const. art. 3, §2. The “case and controversy” requirement means that a Plaintiff, throughout the litigation, has suffered or has been threatened with an actual injury traceable to the Defendant, and is an injury likely to be redressed with a favorable judicial decision. *Spencer v. Kemna*, 523 U.S. 1, 118 S.Ct. 978, 140 L.Ed.2d 43 (1998). The “case and controversy” limitation requires an actual controversy to exist at all stages of review and adjudication. *Arizonans for Official English and Park v. Arizona*, 520 U.S. 43, 117 S.Ct. 1055, 137 L.Ed.2d 170 (1997). The “case or controversy” limitation is crucial to maintain the allocation of power among the legislative, executive,

and judicial branches of government set forth in the Constitution. *Valley Forge Christian Coll. v. Ams. United for Separation of Church and State, Inc.*, 454 U.S. 464, 102 S.Ct. 752, 70 L.Ed.2d 700 (1982).

Iowa's doctrine on standing largely parallels the federal doctrine, although standing under federal law is derived from constitutional restrictions not directly included in the Iowa Constitution. *Alons v. Iowa Dist. Court for Woodbury County*, 698 N.W.2d 858 (Iowa 2005). Most jurisdictions share these restrictions on judicial action based on policy grounds that explain a general, compatible approach to standing in federal and state law. *Reitz*, 50 Am .J. Comp. L. at 459-61.

In the instant case, the Iowa Supreme Court issued the Supervisory Orders as part of its ongoing response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The Supervisory Orders were not issued as part of any particular case or controversy before the Court. Instead, the Supervisory Orders were issued with the intention to direct the administrative functions of the Iowa State Courts while impacting the substantive rights of citizens previously codified by the Assembly, specifically the right of citizens to the elimination of stale claims in Iowa Code § 614.1. As such, to the extent they attempt to modify Statutes of Limitations, the Supervisory Orders must be declared

Unconstitutional, and the District Court's Order granting Defendants' Motions to Dismiss must be affirmed.

b. The Iowa Supreme Court's Supervisory Orders are an Unconstitutional Violation of Separation of Powers Clause of the Iowa Constitution.

The Supervisory Orders are an Unconstitutional violation of separation of powers. As stated above, the powers of the government of the State of Iowa are divided into the legislative, executive and the judicial, with the legislative authority vested in the General Assembly, consisting of a Senate and a House of Representatives. Iowa Const. art. 3, part 2, §2; Iowa Const., art. 3, § 1.

The doctrine of separation of powers requires a branch of government not to impair another in the exercise of their constitutional duties. *State v. Phillips*, 610 N.W.2d 840 (Iowa 2000). The doctrine of separation of powers is violated if one branch of government attempts to use powers clearly forbidden or granted to another branch. *Klouda v. Sixth Judicial Dist. Dept. of Correctional Services*, 642 N.W.2d 255 (Iowa 2002). In *Klouda*, the Iowa Supreme Court struck down statutes which created a pilot program in the Sixth Judicial District that transferred jurisdiction of probation cases from judges to administrative law judges. *Id.* The Iowa Supreme Court determined that the statutes creating the pilot program infringed on the District Court's jurisdiction over civil and criminal matters. *Id.* These matters, specifically

revoking probation, are akin to sentencing, which are functions clearly reserved to the judiciary. *Id.*

The Iowa Constitution reserves to the legislative branch the authority to regulate the practice and procedure in all Iowa Courts. *Thompson* at 7. Specifically, Article V, Section 14 of the Iowa Constitution provides that the general assembly will provide for a general system of practice in all of the Iowa Courts. *Id.* With that being said, the Court has recognized that the courts have the power to adopt rules for the management of cases on their dockets **in the absence of statute**. *Iowa Civil Liberties Union v. Critelli*, 244 N.W.2d 564 (1976). Thus, the judicial department's authority to regulate the practice and procedure must give way where the legislature has acted. *Thompson* at 6, Iowa Const. art. 5, § 14.

Other District Courts have faced the issue of the Court's supervisory orders extending the statutes of limitations in civil actions, and similarly determined that the Supervisory Orders were unconstitutional. In the case *Carter v. Dvensson and Estrada*, the Iowa District Court for Polk County granted summary judgment, in part, to the Defendants on the basis that Plaintiff's action was time-barred under Iowa Code § 614.1(2). *Carter v. Dvensson & Estrada*, Case No. LACL148145 (D. Polk Cnty. Sep. 15, 2021). The Court reasoned that the legislature has the authority to regulate the

practice and procedure in all Iowa courts, including the appellate courts. *Id.* Moreover, this Court has previously held it may not change statutory terms under the guise of judicial administration. *Id.* As such, the Court ruled that the Supreme Court's supervisory orders pertaining to tolling statutes of limitations are unconstitutional and do not alter the time limit for a Plaintiff to pursue their claim. *Id.*

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